
The Weather 
Today—Sunny, high in the low 80s, 
low in the low 60s. The chance of 
rain is 10 per cent today and near 
zero tonight. Wednesday—Fair, high 
in mid 80s. Temp. range: Yesterday, 
62-78; Today, 62-83. Details, P. C7. 
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Papers Detail 4-Year Viet. 
Peace Probes Failed as Both Sid s Sought Victory 

By Murrey Marder 
Washington Post Staff Writer 

The United States and North Viet-
nam for eight years have tried to force 
or negotiate each other out of South 
Vietnam so that their bitterly conflict- 
ing versions of "self-determination" 
for the people of that nation could pre-
vail. 

Although the level of American 
troops in South Vietnam is steadily 
diminishing, the critical question of 
who shall rule in Saigon is as much in 
dispute as it was in 1964 when the 
United States began to greatly enlarge 
its commitment of honor, blood, na- 

tional treasure and world prestige to a 
relatively obscure region of Southea t 
Asia. 

The American half of this dispute s 
now being carried into a third pre 1- 
dential election. The form of the d 
bate is now different, the internation 1 
pattern is now significantly change , 
but "the gut issue" of the war is still 
unaltered, still gnawing at the politi s 
of the United States, and, to a recent y 
reduced extent, at its foreign policy. 

The disclosures last summer of t e 
Pentagon Papers gave the public is 
first clear look at government insider ' 
own perceptions of how the w r 
evolved through the Truman, Eise  

bower, Kennedy and Johnson adminis-
trations. Deleted from those unauthor- 
ized disclosures were the four diplo-
matic volumes of what was originally a 
47-volume Defense Department study 
of the history of the war, "United 
States-Vietnam Relations, 1945-1967." 

That important omission in public 
knowledge of the war record can now 
be filled in through unofficial access 
to the central portions of the undis-
closed remainder of the history. The 
Washington Post requested and ob-
tained copies of these documents from 
columnist Jack Anderson. 

See DIPLOMACY, A13, Col. 1 
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nam Diplomatic Standoff 
Kissinger Played Major Role in ' 8 Bomb Halt, Talks 

By Don O'berdorfer 
Washington Post Staff Writer 

In early June of 1967, a French mi-
crobiologist named Herbert Marcovich 
and a Harvard University professor 
named Henry A. Kissinger met over 
cocktails in Paris to discuss ways to 
bring about a negotiated settlement of 
the Vietnam war. Marcovich had a 
friend, Raymond Aubrac, who 21 years 
before, had welcomed into his Paris 
home a rising Vietnamese political 
leader, Ho Chi Minh. Uncle Ho had 
been almost a member of the family 
and the unofficial godfather to one of 
the children. 

If Marcovich and Aubrac could 
Hanoi and speak privately to Ho 
his colleagues, perhaps they could 
vide a channel for progress to 
peace. With the secret approval o 
U.S. State Department, for whic 
was a consultant, Kissinger agree 
be their American contact, pa 
them instructions and receiving 
reports. 

On the basis of Aubrac's old fr 
ship and with the approval of P 
dent Charles de Gaulle, the 
Frenchmen flew to Hanoi. There, 
a.m. on July 24, 1967—according 
detailed and until now undisclose  

port in the Pentagon's secret history 
of the Vietnam war — they sat down 
to the first of two lengthy conferences 
with Premier Pham Van Dong, initiat-
ing a series of intents and highly un-
usual indirect negotiations between the 
United States and North Vietnam. 

The Marcovich - Aubrac - Kissinger 
channel to Hanoi was given the 
code name of "Pennsylvania" and 
made known only to a handful of the 
most senior officials in the American 
government. 

This and other secret and public ma-
neuvers from mid-1967 to early 1968 

See PAPERS, Al2, Col. 1 
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led to President Johnson's decision to 
stop the bombing of North Vietnam 
and the convening of the Paris talks. 
' At the beginning of their five hours 
of talks with Pham Van Dong, the 

,Frenchmen told him of their arrange-
ment with Kissinger and of his ar-
rangement to report in turn to the 
government in Washington. At the in-
vitation of Dong, Marcovich outlined—
."as a private idea"—a two-part pro-
' posal: an end to the U.S. bombing of .  

"North Vietnam, provided there be no 
increase in war supplies from North 
Vietnam to the South • as a result. 

The Vietnamese official expressed 
considerable interest. "We want an un-
conditional end of the bombing and if 
that happens, there will be no further 

'obstacle to negotiations," he said. He 
,would prefer a public announcement 
', of the bombing halt but would accept 
':a de facto cessation with no:statement. 

If that were accomplished, North 
,;Vietnam could meet secretly and alone 
,. with the United States except on mat-
1,ers concerning the South—on those 
questions the National Liberation 

':Front would have to be brought in. 
But he added that the NLF sought 

t'a broad coalition government" rather 
than a Communist regime in South 
Vietnam. The North would not try to 

:impose a Communist government in 
, the South, nor press for an immediate 
.;unification of the country. 

Pham Van Dong said:.  "Our view is 
::thiS: U.S. power is enormous and the 
U.S. government wants to win the war. 

"President Johnson is suffering from a 
Vain and this pain is called South Viet-
lam. We agree that the situation on 
'tie battlefield is decisive; 'the game 
ih. being played in South Vietnam. 
"Prom the newspapers we see that some 
people want to confine the war to the 

-South. However, the White House and 
pentagon seem determined to continue 
he war against the North. Therefore 

te think that attacks on the North 
are likely to increase. 

"We have made provisions for at-
tacks on our dikes; we are ready to 
accept war on our soil. Our military 
,Potential is growing because of aid 
from the U.S.S.R. and other Socialist 
'Countries . . . We have been fighting 
for our independence for 4,000 years. 
We have defeated the Mongols three 
times. The United States Army, strong 
as it is, is not as terrifying as Genghis 
Khan." 

Turning to the topic of negotiations, 
Dong said, "Ending the war for us has 
two meanings: 1) An end of bombing 
which is permanent and unconditional; 
2) A withdrawal of United States 
forces." 
:.Under questioning, he was flexible 
on withdrawal, saying he realized 
some U.S. troops would have to stay 
until the end of the process of political 
settlement. He added: "We do not 
want to humiliate the U.S. Lenin did 
not like war but fought when neces-
sary. As Lenin we are Communists." 

`A Visit to Ho 
. On the afternoon of July 24, Dong ac-

companied Aubrac to see Ho Chi Minh, 
now 77 years old and in precarious 
health. He received them in a Chinese 
dressing gown, walking with the aid of 
a cane. 

Aubrac was struck with how much 
Ho had aged but noted that his eyes 
still had their sparkle and that his in-
telligence seemed unimpaired. The two 
friends exchanged gifts—Aubrac bring-
ing a little colored stone egg and Ho 
presenting silk for Aubrac's daughter, 
some books and a ring which he said 
was made from the metal of the 2000th 
American warplane to be shot down 
over Vietnam. 

They spoke of the old days in Paris 
and of Aubrac's house and family. 

After 15 minutes, . Aubrac asked, 
"Mr. President, do you know why I 
have come?" Ho said that he did, and 
told Aubrac that the details of negotia-
tations were in the hands of Pham 
Van Dong. The old man added: "Re-
member, many people have tried to 
fool me and have failed. I know you 
don't want to fool me." 

After 50 minutes, Ho terminated the 
conversation and was escorted from the 
room by an aide. Dong walked with Au-
brac to his car. "We try to spare Presi-
dent Ho as many details as we can. He 
is an old man; we want him to live to 
see his country unified;" Dong said. 

Dong told Aubrac and Marcovich to 
communicate with him through two 
North Vietnamese diplomats in Paris: 
The Frenchmen said they would in-
form him of the American reaction. 

Using a prearranged code, they sig-
nalled Kissinger, who met them in 
Paris within hours of their return from 
Hanoi. 

Kissinger's 17-page report was sped 
to Washington, where it immediately 
became the subject of high-level meet-
ings involving the White House, State 
Department and Pentagon. 
Secret Peace Missions 

The mid-1967 discussions in Hanoi by 
the two Frenchmen caine three years 
almost to the day from the first pri-
vate contacts by an authorized inter-
mediary probing for a way to settle the 
war. The hitherto unpublished negotia- 
tions sections of the Pentagon's 1968 
history of the Vietnam conflict—some- 
times called The Pentagon Papers—
declares that this lengthy probing proc-
ess brought forth "a halting but grad-
ual diplomatic movement by both 
North Vietnam and the United States 
toward a negotiated settlement." 

This section of the Pentagon. Papers, 
which was ,not obtained by news media 
along with the rest of the voluminous 
study a year ago, gives many 
previously unreported details of ore 
than a dozen secret peace missions 
from mid-1964 until March 31, 1968— 
when President Johnson halted the 
bombing of most of North Vietnam 
and the two sides moved to face-to-face 
talks in Paris. 

Among many others, the 'intermedi-
aries included J. Blair Seaborn, a Ca-
nadian delegate to the Indochina Inter-
national Control Commission who 
made the first probes for the United 
States in Hanoi in June, 1964; former 
White House press secretary Pierre 
Salinger, who during a May, 1966, Mos-
Cow visit was approached by two So-
viet officials with a peace proposal 
that quickly evaporated, and Soviet 

Premier Alexei N. Kosygin, who told 
British and American officials in Feb- 
ruary, 1967, that he had been in direct 
contact with Hanoi and could confirm 
that North Vietnam would talk if the 
U.S. bombing stopped. 

The volunteer negotiators or solic-
ited participants in peace probes in- 
cluded officials of the governments of 
Britain, France, Italy, the Soviet 
Union, Polaixl, Romania, Norway, Swe-
den and Canada. Many of the channels 
to Hanoi were given code names of 
flowers (Marigold, Mayflower, Sunflo-
wer) or places (Pennsylvania, Ohio 
Aspen). 
crowing Mititary. Involvement 

By the time of the Marcovich-Aubrac 
conversations in Hanoi in Mid-1967, 
when the most intensive period of pri-
vate probes began, both sides were 
heavily committed to a bloody and 
growing war in Indochina and locked 
into seemingly uncompromising posi-
tions about the 'first steps toward di-
rect diplomatic negotiations. 



Communist military strength in 
South Vietnam was estimated by the 
U.S. at 294,000 men, including 50,000 
North Vietnamese regulars. Unknown 
to the United States, planning was 
under way in Hanoi in July, 1967, for a 
startling and massive stepup in the 
war, a battle to "split the sky and shake 
the earth." It emerged with explosive 
force early in 1968 as the Tet Offen-
sive. 

On Aug. 3, the very day of a top-level 
meeting in Washington to discuss Kis- 
singer's report of the Marcovich-Au- 
brac trip, President Johnson an-
nounced that he was again sending 
more men to the war; up to a new U.S. 
troop ceiling of 525,000. The American-
backed South Vietnamese government 
had more than 600,000 men under arms 
and the number was growing. The war 
was costing the United States $20 bil-
lion per year. Some 13,000 Americans 
had been killed. 

The fundamental question then—zas 
now—was which side would control 
South Vietnam. But the sticking point 
in the search for the beginning of a 
diplomatic settlement was the U.S. 
bombing of North Vietnam, which was 
heavy and still growing. 

On Aug, 4, the day after the-
Washington meeting on the Kissinger 
report, United States aircraft flew 197 
bombing missions over North Vietnam, 
setting a new record for a single day. 
On Aug. 8, the President—under heavy 
pressure from some elements of Con-
gress and the •Pentagon ordered strikes 
on 16 new sensitive targets requested 
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, some in 
previously,  restricted zones near the 
center- of Hanoi and others less than 
one minute's flying time from the 
Chinese border. 

The official North Vietnamese posi-
tion was that all bombing and other 
acts of war against North Vietnam 
must stop before there could be talks 
about a diplomatic settlement. The 
United States position, as explained by 
the historian of the Pentagon papers, 
was that "we would stop the bombing 
in return for some reciprocal act of 
military restraint but that we would 
not stop bombing simply in exihange 
for talks." 
The Johnson Message 

On Aug. 11, 1967, according to the 
diplomatic section of the .Pentagon 
Papers now available for the first 
time, President Johnson approved the 
following message and asked that Kis-
singer convey it to Premier Pham Van 
Dong via Marcovich and Aubrac: 

"The United States is willing to stop 
the aerial and naval bombardment of 
North Vietnam if this will lead 
promptly to productive discussions be-
tween representatives of the U.S. and 
the DRV [Democratic Republic of Viet-
nam] looking toward a resolution of 
the issues between them.. We would as-
sume that, while discussions proceed 
either with public knowledge or se-
cretly, the DRV would not take advan-
tage of the bombing cessation or limi-
tation. Any such move on their part 
would obviously be inconsistent with 
the movement toward resolution of the 
issues between the U.S. and the DRV 
which the negotiations are intended to 
achieve." 

The wording of the message was the 
compromise result of a pitched battle 
at high levels of the U.S. government 

over terms for a bombing halt, and it 
was very close to the position that 
would be publicly announced by Presi-
dent Johnson seven weeks later in a 
San Antonio, Texas, address (thereby 
becoming known as "the San Antonio 
formula.") 

For the first time in an official state-
ment, the United States was not asking 
for a substantial reciprocal act by 
North Vietnam in return for a bomb-
ing halt—only that it "not take advan-
tage" by stepping up the war. 

On Aug. 17, Kissinger met with Mar-
govich and Aubrac at the Marcovich 
home in Paris and handed over the 
message, which he asked them to take 
personally .te Hanoi. Following instruc-
tions from Washington, he told the 
Frenchmen that the United States was 
prepared to negotiate either openly-or 
secretly with North Vietnam. 
added, also on specific instructio 
that a •bombing cessation could hardly 
be kept secret for long and thus a par-
tial cutback rather than a total halt 
might be desirable while secret talks 
began. 

In five hours of conversation with 
the Frenelnnen, • Kissinger explained 
that the message from Washington re-
flected thst views of the Secretaries of 
State and ■ Defense and had been ap-
proved 'by President Johnson. And he 
defined some sticky terms: "take ad-
vantage" referred to "any increase in 
the movement of men and supplies 
into the ,South." And the phrase "pro-
ductive discussions" indicated the de-
termination to avoid extended Korean-
type negotiitions while military opera-
tions Proceeded. 
Concern Over the Bombing 

Even as •they met, the press was giv-
ing big headlines to the dramatic step-
up in the U.S. bombing of North Viet-
nam, a development which produced 
gloom and uncertainty in the two 
Frepchmen. But Kissinger maintained 
that the decision to add new targets 
had been made before the report of 
Marcovich and Aubrac's Hanoi talks 
had reached Washington. "In the ab-
sence of meaningful negotiations the 
intensity of violence was likely to con-
tinue to rise," he said. 

The Frenchmen agreed to return to 
Hanoi but were concerned about the 
bombing. They asked whether some re-
striction could be placed on the bomb-
ing of Hanoi for their safety and to 
show good faith. 

After the conference with Kissinger, 
the Frenchmen immediately asked for 
an appointment at the North Vietnam-
ese mission in Paris. On 20 minutes no-
tice, they were ushered in to to see Mr. 
Sung, one of the men whose name they 
had been given by Pham Van Dong. 
The diplomat told them he had been 
instructed to transmit their messages 
to Hanoi but had no instructions con-
cerning new visas. He would have to 

'check. 
6-4.9 

On Aug.' 18 and 19, Marcovich and 
Aubrac met again with Kissinger, who 
was accompanied for some of the time 
by Chester L. Cooper, the special as-
sistant for Vietnam negotiations to 
Ambassador Averell Harriman in the 
U.S. Department of State. Cooper's 
presence was intended to leave no 
doubt that Kissinger was an author-
ized emissary of the U.S. government. 

Meeting at the Pont Royal Hotel on 
the Left Bank in Paris, Kissinger told 
his contacts that "effective Aug. 24 
there would be a noticeable change in 
the bombing pattern in the vicinity of 
Hanoi to guarantee their personal 
safety and as a token of our good will." 
There was no mention of exact dis-
tances. Kissinger said these orders 
were "generally good for 10 days." 

This word had come to Kissinger 
from Secretary of Defense Robert S. 
McNamara. After further discussion 
with McNamara, Kissinger told the 
Frenchmen that the restrictions on 
bombing in the immediate vicinity of 
Hanoi would end Sept. 4. 

6-4-9 
On Aug. 21, Hanoi said no to the visa 

application of Marcovich and Aubrac. 
The two men sent a second visa appeal 
through the North Vietnamese mis-
sion, saying they had an important 
message to deliver. 

On Aug. 21 and 22, U.S. warplanes 
made heavy raids on Hanoi, some near,  
the center of the city, flattening 

e 



Presidential adviser Henry Kissinger shortly before 
his most recent trip for President Nixon. In 1967 he 

Associatzd Press 

made several trips to Paris for President Johnson in 
a vain attempt to set up direct talks with Hanoi. 

houses and shops and damaging a med-
ical clinic. North Vietnamese authori-
ties said "numerous lives" had been 
lost. 

On Aug. 22, Richard Nixon, then a 
private citizen and a prospective candi-
date for the Presidency, called in a 
Christian Science Monitor interview 
for "massive pressure" short of nu-
clear weapons to shorten the war. 

Meanwhile, the jungle headquarters 
of the South Vietnam People's Libera-
tion Armed Forces (Vietcong) had re-
ceived. orders from Hanoi to begin 
preparations for the General Offensive 
and General Uprising—in Vietnamese 
Communist theory, the final culmina-
tion of the war. 

cv 

Message Sent to Hanoi 
Marcovich and Aubrac went to see 

' Mai Van Bo, North Vietnam's senior 
diplomat in Paris, on Aug. 25 to ask 
why their visas had not been received. 
Bo replied it was too dangerous to visit 
Hanoi due to the bombing. The French 
men told him—without '',saying how, 
they knew—that they had assurances 
of safety from the Hanoi bombing 
through Sept. 4. 

The two unofficial emissaries then 
presented a text of the U.S. message, 
slightly altered and expanded from its 
original form, for transmission to 
Hanoi. They also gave Bo a written de-
scription of their contacts with Kissin-
ger. They also presented several sub-
sidiary points which had been made by 
Kissinger—that the U.S. was handling 
the problem confidentially and re-
quested Hanoi to do likewise; that 
bombing attacks on the dikes in North 
Vietnam had been accidental: that the 
U.S. was ready to send a representa-
tive to meet North Vietnamese offi-
cials in Vientiane, Laos, in Moscow, in 
Paris or elsewhere. 

On Aug. 31, Mai Van Bo told Aubrac 
that their second visa request had 
been rejected. Bo said his government 
"noted unfavorably" that the second 
appeal for a visa, on Aug. 21, coincided 
with the escalation of the bombing of 
the North with Hanoi as its objective. 
Under these circumstances "it is im-
possible" to grant the visas, he said. Bo 
did not yet have a reply to the mes-
sage from Kissinger which had been 
transmitted to Hanoi Aug. 25. 

On Sept. 2, as the bombing respite 
for Hanoi was about to run out, Bo 
met the Frenchmen again and asked 
them to make sure that nothing hap-
pened to Hanoi "in the next few days." 
Marcovich and Aubrac contacted Kis-
singer and it was arranged to extend 
the bombing restriction for three addi-
tional days beyond the planned Sept. 4 
termination. 

Aubrac returned to Rome, where he 
was working as an official of the 
United Nations Food and Agricultural 
Organization, but Marcovich remained 
in Paris and had almost daily talks 
with. Mai Van Bo. In one of the talks, 
Bo expressed interest in seeing Kissin-
ger and said he would seek authority 
from home to do so. In another talk, 
on Sept. 8, Marcovich said Kissinger 
planned to be in Paris for about 10 
days beginning the next morning. Bo 
said if there were no bombing of 
Hanoi during that period "something 
could well happen." 

The American restriction on bomb-
ing within 10 miles of Hanoi continued 
in force. 

04.9 
At 6 p.m. on Sunday, Sept. 10, Bo 

summoned Marcovich to a meeting. 
There he handed the Frenchman the 
text of Hanoi's reply and asked that it 
be given to Kissinger: 



"The essence of the American propo-
sitions is the stopping of the bombing 
under conditions. The American bomb-
ing of the Democratic Republic of 
Vietnam is illegal. The United States 
should put an end to the bombing and 
cannot pose conditions. 

"The American message has been 
communicated after an escalation of 
the attacks against Hanoi and under 
the threat of continuation of the at-
tacks against Hanoi. It is clear that 
this constitutes an untimatum to the 
Vietnamese people. 

"The Government of the Democratic 
Republic of Vietnam energetically re-
jects the American propositions . . ." 

c+.2 
U.S. warplanes bombed the North 

Vietnamese port of Campha for the 

first time and attacked previously un-
touched targets in Haiphong on Sept. 
11 and 12. 

64.9 
A Rebuff to Kissinger 

Kissinger had breakfast with Mar- 
covich in Paris on the morning of Sept. 
13 and handled him a sealed letter to 
be delivered to Mai Van Bo. In the let-
ter, Kissinger promised an official U.S. 
reply to Hanoi's statement and a corn. 
mentary on the statement. But because 
of its importance and confidentiality, 
Kissinger asked for a personal meeting 
to deliver it. 

The North Vietnamese diplomat in 
Paris told his French contact that be-
cause of the continued threat of air at-
tacks on Hanoi, a direct meeting with 
Kissinger could not take place. 

In another sealed message sent 
through Marcovich the following day, 
Kissinger said North Vietnam's atti-
tude was "baffling. 

"If we bomb near Hanoi we are ac-
cused of bringing pressure. If we vol-
untarily and without any suggestion 
from Hanoi impose a restraint on our 
actions and keep this up without time 
limit we are accused of an ultimatum. 
In fact, the American proposal con-
tained neither threats nor conditions 
and should not be rejected on these 
grounds." 

Both messages from Kissinger were 
approved in advance in Washington. 
n  Kissinger also passed on an "offi-
cial" comment from Washington say-
ing that the recent air attacks on Hai-
phong had not been an escalation of 
the war because the strikes closest to 
the center of the city were in an area 
which had been hit before. Kissinger 
added the "personal" comment that 
only a few of the highest officials in 
Washington were aware of the diplo-
matic communications through the 
Paris channel and therefore it was dif-

' ficult to preserve secrecy while revers-
ing military decisions taken prior to 
the start of the written exchanges. 

Visits and sealed messages contin-
ued, for the most part reiterating pre. 
viously stated positions, but Mai Van 
Bo steadfastly refused to see Kissinger 
in person. Bo said the Marcovich-
Aubrac channel was "very convenient 
for us" but that Hanoi was reluctant to 
talk under duress with any officially 
connected American. "The Americans 
are playing a double game—on one 
hand they are offering us peace; on 
the other they increase their bomb-
ing," he charged. 

Through the two Frenchmen, Wash-
ington continued,to ask for a further 
reply to the message which had been 
authorized by the President and 
handed to Mai Van Bo on Aug, 25. Fi-
nally, on Sept. 24, Bo called in. Marcov-
ich and read him a lengthy response—
but not the one Washington had been 
seeking. 

"The whole world knows that the 
U.S. has pursued a constant policy of 
escalation against North Vietnam," the 
message stated. It noted that the 
bombing of Hanoi had stopped but air 
attacks had intensified on Campha, 
Haiphong and Vinh Linh province 
"where the bombing has the character 
of extermination and systematic de-
struction." 

"I accept your expression of confi-
dence in Kissinger, but at the moment 
when the U.S. is increasing its escala-
tion, it was not possible for me to see 
him . . . As far as you and Aubrac are 
concerned, I have received you any 
time you have requested. I listen to 
you. I accept messages from you. I 
transmit them. I report fully to Hanoi. 
I call you when I have something to 
say. I believe that this demonstrates 
our good will sufficiently. However, as 
I have pointed out earlier, we have no 
illusions about American policy." 

Marcovich passed along the message 
and at 8:30 the following morning 
called on Bo to read him Kissinger's 
reply. The American said there was no 
point in trading charges and counter-
charges about "past activities" and in-
sisted that the ,bombing pattern re-
flectedl "in part" the extreme secrecy 
of the discussions through the Paris 
channel. "The USG (U.S. Government) 
has considered it unwise to change de-
cisions made prior to the report of M 
and A's trip to Hanoi, except in regard 
to bombing Hanoi itself, because it 
wanted to keep the circle of awareness 
of this exchange as small as possible to 
avoid premature public debate." 
Direct Contacts Asked 

In a note of frustration, Kissinger 
added that "the exchange indicates 
that Washington and Hanoi have great 
difficulty understanding each other's 
thought processes. This makes direct 
US/DRV contact essential. Intermedi-
aries, no matter how trustworthy, are 
not satisfactory substitutes." 

Kissinger maintained that Washing. 
ton required only assurance that a 
bombing halt would lead to "prompt" 
and "productive" discussions on Ha-
noi's part. He made no mention of the 
Washington "assumption" that Hanoi 
would take "no advantage" of a bomb-
ing halt—though this was still part of 
the package. 

On his part, Mai Van Bo continued 
to view the words "prompt" and "pro-
ductive" as veiled indications of condi-
tions. Hanoi refused to submit, to con-
ditions or pay any price for a halt to 
bombing which it considered "illegal." 

C+.9 

The dialogue which had begun in 
June was approaching an end. The 
hopes of the two Frenchmen and their 
American contact were waning. Mar-
covich telephoned Kissinger in Cam-
bridge Oct. 10 and pleaded with him to 
return to Paris over the weekend. Kis-
singer refused, saying previous U.S. 
messages were clear and that Washing-
ton had nothing further to say. 

A week later Marcovich saw Mai. 
Van Bo and expressed hope that the 
channel would remain open. Bo passed 
him a written message rooted in con-
crete and seeming to close off further 
discussion: 

"Actually the U.S. has been follow-
ing a policy of escalation of an ex-
tremely serious nature. In these condi-
tions the U.S. proposals of peace are 
double-faced. At a time when the U.S. 
is pursuing a policy of escalation we 
cannot receive Kissinger nor comment 



on the American proposals transmitted 
through this channel. 

"The position of the government of 
the Democratic Republic of Vietnam is 
perfectly clear: it is only when the 
U.S. has ended without condition the 
bombardment that discussions can 
take" place." 

Across the Atlantic, Kissinger pre-
pared to fly to Paris one last time to 
see Marcovich and Aubrac. He was 
given guidance for his talk by officials 
in Washington. The instructions began: 

"1. From the time of your opening 
discussions with M. tonight, you should 
make it entirely clear to him that 
Washington considers that the DRV 
has rejected the forthcoming USG pro-
posals to bring about an end to the 
bombing and prompt and productive 
US/DRV discussions with no advan-
tage being taken by the DRV on the 
ground. You should indicate that we 
base this co,nclusion not only upon Ha-
noi's negative public statements, and, 
most importantly, upon renewed DRV 
hostile actions in the vicinity of the 
DMZ (U.S. Marines were under siege 
at Con Thien) . . . it should be your 
objective from the start to indicate 
that the patience of your Washington 
friends is running out and that they 
feel that Hanoi has been unwilling to 
respond on any significant point." 

Kissinger flew to Paris Oct. 20 and 
met his friends, who told him they felt 
it was urgent that they see Bo as soon 
as possible. Aubrac expressed willing-
ness to put his 21-year-old friendship 
with Ho Chi Minh on the line to clar-
ify the situation in the interest of 
peace. Kissinger did not object, so long 
as it was clear that the United States 
had nothing to say. At 8:30 p.m. he left 
the two Frenchmen at Marcovich's 
house and returned to his hotel to 
await developments. 
'Nothing New to Say' 

With Marcovich listening on an ex-
tension, Aubrac telephoned Mai Van 
Bo. "We would like to see you ur-
gently," he said. 

Bo repeated, "There is nothing new 
say. The situation is worsening. There 
is no reason to talk again." 

Aubrac insisted, "There is something 
new and very important." 

Bo repeated, "There is nothing ew 
to say. The situation is worsening. 
There is no reason to talk again." 

Aubrac persisted, "There is some-
thing very important—perhaps the 
most important juncture of our ex-
changes." 

Bo repeated his earlier answer but 
added, "What is the important mat-
ter?" 

Aubrac said it had to do with the - 
final sentence of the last message he 
had from Bo and the sequence in 
which steps have to be taken to stop 
the bombing. 

Bo repeated, "There is nothing new 
fectly clear." He repeated that there 
was nothing to say and no reason to 
talk. 

The two Frenchmen hung up the tel-
ephone. Then, in great distress, they.  
called Kissinger and told him that Mai 
Van Bo had refused to see them.  

4-4.9 
In Washington, Assistant Secretary 

of State William P. Bundy cabled Am-
bassador Ellsworth Bunker in Saigon 
that the Pennsylvania track "came to a 
negative conclusion on Friday, with op-
posing party "efusing even to accept 
further contact with intermediaries." 

In the Family Dining Room of the 
White House, President Johnson sat 
with his advisers over a Tuesday lunch 
and ordered the temporary resumption 
of U.S. bombing within 10 miles of the 
center of Hanoi. The restriction had 
originated as part of the "Pennsylva-
nia" dialogue in late August. 

Four days after Mai Van Bo's final 
telephone conversation with the 
Frenchmen, Hanoi was bombed by U.S. 
warplanes, and they kept it up for five 
days straight. The government of 
North Vietnam appealed to world 
opinion to "stay the hand" of what it 
called continuous bombing'. of the -city 
of Hanoi. 

Diplomatic probes continued. Secre-
tary of State Rusk saw Soviet Deputy 
Foreign Minister V. V. Kuznetsov; Am-
bassador Averell Harriman saw Soviet 
Ambassador Anatoliy Dobrynin; in the 
"Aspen" track a Swedish diplomat saw 
a North Vietnamese diplomat in Stock- 
holm; in the "Ohio" track, the Nor-
wegian Ambassador to Peking saw the 
North Vietnamese Ambassador to Pe-
king and a little-  later the Norwegian 
flew to Hanoi for further discussions; 
in the "Packers" track Romanian Dep-
uty Foreign Minister Georghe Macov-
escu flew to Hanoi with questions he • 
had been given by Harriman; in the 
"Killy" track an Italian diplomat saw a 
North Vietnamese diplomat in Prague, 
Czechoslovakia. 

In the end, it was events which 
counted most. Under great U.S. public 
and political pressure after the Tet Of-
fensive, President Johnson halted the 
bombing of most of North Vietnam on • 
March 31, 1968, without the private as-
surances that the talks would be "pro- 
ductive" or that Hanoi would take "no 
advantage." On its side, North Vietnam 
agreed to preliminary face-to-face dis. 
cussions with U.S. diplomats despite 
the fact that bombs were still falling 
over part of its territory. 

Finally the bombing was ordered 
completely stopped (on Oct. 31, 1968) 
and full-scale talks began in Paris. So 
far these discussions as well as numer- • 
ous secret discussions by Kissinger, 
now President Nixon's foreign policy 
assistant, have been unable to produce • 
peace. In recent weeks, heavy bombing 
of North Vietnam has resumed along 
with mining of North Vietnam's rivers 
and harbors. A major North Vietnam-
ese offensive continues in the South. 

Returning from talks with Chinese 
leaders in Peking last week, Kissinger 
said "we expect that when the war is 
finally settled it will be through direct 
negotiations between the North Viet-
namese and American negotiators." He 
had no progress to report but ex-
pressed the hope that North Vietnam-
ese diplomats would soon return to the 
conference table in Paris ready to got 
down to the "substantive" issues which 
the war is all about. 



DIPLOMACY, From Al 

This newly acquired record reveals 
that at no time during the frustrating 
years of struggle to end the war by di-
plomacy was the key issue any of the 
subjectS that have inflamed public de-
bate, with one exception. The underly-
ing problem never has been the speed 
or the rate of U.S. troop withdrawals, 
or the terms of a cease-fire, or interna-
tional supervision, or the release of 
American prisoners. 

Calls on the Communist side for a 
"coalition government" in South Viet-
nam, and the offsetting allied calls for 
"free elections," did, and do, symbolize 
what the war is really about. 

The core issue was, and is, what 
dominated the most recent American-
Soviet and American-Chinese discus-
sions about the war in Moscow and in 
Peking: Who shall rule in Saigon after 
American troops withdraw and what 
will be that regime's relations with 
Washington, with Hanoi, with Moscow 
and with Peking. 

This is no momentous revelation to 
specialists on the subject. But what 
even specialists could not know, except 
for the rare few who had access to the 
extremely secreted maze of private ex-
changes throughout these years, was 
that the United States and North Viet-
nam at their highest official levels did 
clearly recognize what was required to 
produce a settlement. 

Each side came to know rather 
quickly which offers were substantive 
and which were grandstand plays to 
sway world opinion; which proposal 
was likely to be construed as an "ulti-
matum" and which a serious conces-
sion; when the adversary was too weak 
to bargain seriously or when he was 
too strong to be induced to compro-
mise. 

Many experts regard this tortuous 
diplomatic history, nevertheless, as "a 
tragedy of missed opportunities" to 
end the war. 
Fear on Both Sides 

The United States and North Viet-
nam, alternately, and sometimes even 
simultaneously, were fearful that any, 
initiative to negotiate seriously would 
be construed as "weakness." The• suspi-
cions, the differences in negotiating 
style, and the misinterpretations of 
tactics, even language, were immense. 

There were potential chances for 
face-saving settlements, this newly 
available record indicates, if there had 
been a mutual desire to end the war 
with a standoff on the totally diver-
gent goals for the control of power in 
South Vietnam. There is evidence that 
miscalculations, and misperceptions, 
did cause the abortion of opportunities 
to narrow differences. But there is no 
evidence in this record that any near-
agreement on peace was thwartd by 
misunderstanding. The two sides never 
got that close. 

Instead, each side was, and is, fight-
ing militarily and diplomatically to try 
to fulfill its original political objective 
in South Vietnam. Some strategists, in 
earlier sections of the Pentagon Pap-
ers, have defined the primary U.S. 
objective as the avoidance of "humilia-
tion." President Nixon himself often 
has used the same terminology. But 
"humiliation" is an extremely rubbery 
characterization; at its maximum it 
can be refined as "victory"; at its mini-
mum, a veneer on "defeat." 
Easy Terms, Complex Meaning 

There are no essentially new formu-
las in official circulation for ending 
the war or even ending the American 
involvement in it. Virtually every 
phrase in the current "peace offers" of 
the United States and of North Viet-
nam has a twisting tail that snakes 
back through the years of futile, laby-
rinthine negotiating. What is more, or 
worse, each side knows the complexity 
of each phrase of diplomatic art—with- 

drawal, cease-fire, coalition govern-
ment, free elections, international 
guarantees, self-determination—even 
though they may seem concise and 
straightforward to the public eye. 

Diplomats often were sent on futile 
missions—sometimes by nations other 
than the United States, for what Amer-
ican officials assessed in this account 
as "an ulterior (national) motive," to 
enhance their own nation's interests. 

Retired Canadian diplomat Chester 
Ronning, a China specialist who is de-
scribed in the Pentagon study as 
"known to hold a critical view of U.S. 
policies toward China and Vietnam," 
went to Hanoi March 7-11, 1966, to try 
to convince the North Vietnamese they 
should accept U.S. terms for a halt in 
the American bombing. Ronning, una-
ble to arouse any interest in Washing-
ton's terms, ruefully said he had "trav-
eled 10,000 miles to present a feather." 

Many diplomats, on both sides, cir-
cled the globe with "feathers." Offi-
cially, everyone was searching for 
"peace"; but even on the American 
side there were a half-dozen contradic-
tory versions of the ingredients neces-
sary to produce it. 

Throughout the diplomatic record 
now available, the overriding North Vi-
etnamese concern was—and is—that 
"the United States intends to stay per-
manently in (South) Vietnam." Not 
necessarily with its troops, or forces, 
but with material support for the anti-
Communist, pro-western government 
in Saigon. None of the withdrawal 
pledges of multiple American commu-
niques, declarations, or troop reduc-
tion commitments have removed. the 
North Vietnamese belief that the 
United States seeks to "stay" in South 
Vietnam, meaning to preserve it as an 
anti-Communist nation. 

Even before the disputed Gulf of 
Tonkin incidents of early August, 1964, 
Canadian diplomat J. Blair Seaborn 
conveyed to Hanoi's leaders the U.S. 
determination "to contain the DRV 
(Democratic Republic of Vietnam, 
meaning North Vietnam) to the terri-
tory allocated' it" at Geneva in 1954 
"and to see the GVN's (Government of 
Vietnam, or South Vietnam) writ run 
throughout SVN. U.S. patience was 
running thin. If the conflict should es- 

calate, 'the greatest devastation would 
of course result for the DRV itself.' " 

Seaborn "underlined the seriousness 
of U.S. intentions by reminding his 
principal contact, (Premier) Pham Van 
Dong, that the U.S. commitment to 
SVN had implications extending far 
beyond SE Asia." 

"Pham Van Dong laughed and said 
he did indeed appreciate the problem. 
A U.S. defeat in SVN would in all 
probability start a chain reaction ex-
tending much further. But the stakes 
were just as high for the NLF (Na-
tional Liberation Front of South Viet-
nam, the Vietcong) and its supporters, 
hence their determination to continue 
the struggle regardless of sacrifice. 

"He (the Premier) did not specifi-
cally deny that there was DRV inter-
vention in the South and said of the 
war in SVN, 'We shall win.' But he also 
said 'the DRV will not enter the war 
, . we shall not provoke the U.S.' " 

"Perhaps," the Pentagon analysts 
added, "he drew a distinction between 
existing levels of DRV intervention 
and 'entering the war.' " 

Seaborn saw Pham Van Dong again, 
on Aug. 13, 1964, after what the United 
States claimed were "unprovoked at-
tacks" on U.S. destroyers in the Gulf 
of Tonkin on Aug. 2 and Aug. 4 for 
which it "retaliated" by the first Amer-
ican bombing of North Vietnam. The 
North Vietnamese premier was indig-
nant. 

Hanoi Denies Provocation 
"Pham Van Dong," the record con-

tinues, "answered angrily that there 
had been no DRV provocation. Rather, 
the U.S. had found 'it is necessary to 
carry the war to the North in order to 
find a way out of the impasse . . . in 
the South.' He anticipated more at-
tacks in the future and warned, `Up to 
now we have tried to avoid serious 
trouble; but it becomes more difficult 
now because the war has been carried 
to our territory , . . If war comes to 
North Vietnam,' it will come to the 
whole of SE Asia ..." 

The U.S. analysis adds, "As indicated 
in another study 	it is now believed 
that the first organized NVA (North 
Vietnamese Army) units infiltrated 
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into SVN were dispatched from the 
DRV in August, 1964. (These units 
were being readied as early as April, 
1964. The date of the decision to dis-
patch them is, of course, unknown.)" 

In the analysis of the diplomatic por- 
tions of the Pentagon Papers, it should 
be noted, the assessments are more 
cautious, less-sweeping, and indeed 
more supportive of official U.S. ration-
ales than previously disclosed portions 
of the war study. One reason may be 
that the study was completed at a high 
point of diplomatic sensitivity, after 
President Johnson ordered a total halt 
in the bombing of North Vietnam on 
Oct. 31, 1968, and while the United 
States and North Vietnam were in the 
early stages of the Paris peace talks. 

A fundamental point that Seaborn 
and successor intermediaries tried to 
make to North Vietnam was that it is 
the U.S. objective to restore the Ge-
neva accords of 1954, which is also a 
priority goal for Hanoi. But while the 
United States contends that those ac-
cords limited North Vietnam to Viet-
nam above the 17th Parallel, and 

' therefore the war in the South is "ag-
gression from the North," Hanoi 
charges that this was only a "tempo-
rary" boundary and if the United 
States had not "violated" the Geneva 
accords, the 1956 election proposed in 
them would have produced a unified 
Vietnamese state with the late Ho Chi 
Minh as its leader. Many western spe-
cialists agree with that premise. 

Chinese Premier Chou En-lai emo-
tionally told a group of Americans be-
fore presidential adviser Henry A. Kis-
singer's latest visit to Peking this 
month that Chou's agreement to the 
1954 accords was "a mistake . . . be-
cause we were not experienced." He 
said it became evident later that John 
Foster Dulles, then U.S. Secretary of 
State, was preparing to violate the ac-
cords before they were signed by con-
verting the temporary division of Viet-
nam into a permanent division. 

When the United States began heavy 
bombing of North Vietnam, with "Roll-
ing Thunder" on March 2, 1965, Sea-
born was back in Hanoi on another 
mission for the United States in which  

he was instructed "to leave the initia-
tive" to North Vietnam's leaders. 

This time, Premier Pham Van Dong 
was "too busy" to see Seaborn. But 
from Col. Ha Van Lau (later an envoy 
at the Paris talks), the Pentagon study 
shows, Seaborn "gathered that Hanoi 
was not seriously concerned by the 
U.S. air strikes, considering them an 
attempt to improve U.S. bargaining 
power at a conference the U.S, stren-
uously desired." 

"Hanoi's interpretation, he (Seaborn) 
believed, was that the U.S. realized it 
had lost the war and wanted to extri-
cate itself; hence it was in Hanoi's in-
terest to hold back—a conference then 
might, as in 1954, deprive it of total 
victory." 

Avoiding a Conference 
On the contrary, earlier portions of 

the Pentagon study show, the United 
States at that point was seeking to 
avoid a conference, because of the 
weakness of South Vietnam's position. 
Negotiations were to be sidestepped 
until the bombing helped to produce 
the intended effect of forcing North 
Vietnam to call off the insurgency in 
South Vietnam. 

"Should pressures for negotiation 
become too formidable to resist and 
discussion begin before a Communist 
agreement to comply" with that objec-
tive was achieved, a Pentagon analyst 
wrote, "it was stressed that the United 
States should define its negotiating po-
sition 'in a way which makes Commu-
nist acceptance unlikely.' " 

When the American bombing of 
North Vietnam was in full force, Ha-
noi's Ambassador to China, Ngo Loan, 
told Norwegian Ambassador Ole Al-
sard in,Peking in June, 1967, that: 

"The Geneva agreement stipulated 
that Vietnam should be unified within 

'two years. 'Our objective today;' he 
said, 'is considerably lower. The ques-
tion' of unification is postponed to an 
indefinite point of time in the future. 
,North Vietnam is today ready to ac-
cept a separate South Vietnamese 
state which is neutral and based on a 
coalition government. Such a govern-
ment could have connections both with 
East and West and accept assistance 
from countries that might wish to give 
such assistance.' 

"The Amb stated that the time of 
the withdrawal of the American troops 
was not RPT not a decisive question. 
In this connection he pointed• to the 
(1954) agreement on the withdrawal of 
the French troops. However, the ques-
tion of representation was of great im-
portance. On this point the Americans 
would have to accept the political situ-
ation in South Vietnam as it is, as de 
Gaulle did in Algeria ." 

" 'We are,' said Ambassador Loan, 
`ready for very far reaching compro-
mises to get an end to the war.' 

"Ambassador Algard noted that re-
cently one had impression that North 
Vietnamese side was cooler toward ne-
gotiations. AmbaSsador Loan denied 
this strongly. He said that formerly 
when North Vietnam showed an inter-
est in negotiations Americans had 
taken such interest as a sign of weak-
ness and with results of stronger esca-
lation." 

Algard reported that the North Viet-
namese "were deeply mistrustful of 
Americans' intentions in Vietnam. 
Steady escalation and sending of new 
troops indicated Americans had inten-
tion of staying permanently in Viet-
nam." 

"Amb. Ngo (Loan) said he hoped de-
velopments would not RPT not take 
such form that North Vietnam must 
ask for foreign, and in first instance 

-Chinese, help. That was one thing they 
would do their utmost to avoid." 

Throughout the bombing campaign 
of the Johnson administration years, 
and now once again in the resumption 

of intensive bombing by the Nixon aci:  
ministration plus the May 8, 1972, 
order to mine North Vietnam's har- 
bors, North Vietnam repeated'•y has 
charged that escalation of the air war 
has been used to damage or destroy 
negotiating opportunities. 

Bombing pauses were initiated for 
several purposes during the Johnson 
years. As the previous Pentagon Pap-
ers showed, the late John Mc-
Naughton, then an Assistant Secretary 
of Defense, described the purpose of 
carefully timed bombing pauses as a 
"ratchet": backing off tension, and 
then increasing it if desired. But this 
implied closely coordinated military 
and diplomatic strategy to put pres-
sure on the enemy, or relax it, to 
achieve a planned objective. 

The •American bombing pauses 
began with that objective, but it was 
soon evident there was no, or little, co-
ordination. 

President Johnson ordered the first 
five-day bombing pause, in May, 1965; 
when he found they would not hinder 
the targeting operations of Rolling 
Thunder and there was "excellent op-
portunity for a pause in air attacks ... 
which I could use to good effect with 
world opinion." The President said, 
privately, "my purpose . .. is to begin 
to clear a path 'either toward restora-
tion of peace or toward increased mili-
tary action, depending upon the reac-
tion of the Communists." 

No Change In U.S. Position .. 
This pause became code-named Op-

eration Mayflower. When Secretary of 
State Dean Rusk called Soviet Ambas-
sador Anatoliy F. Dobrynin to the 
State Department to inforrn'him about 
the bombing suspension, the newly 
available record shows, as Rusk re-
lated the encounter to the U.S. Em-
bassy in Moscow, Dobrynin "Asked 
basically whether action represented 
any change in fundamental U.S. posi-
tion. 

"I (Rusk) replied that• it did not and 
that this should be no surprise." 

Rusk told Dobrynin that the United 
States was "very hopeful" that this 
first pause, for a "limited trial period," 
would meet with reciprocal response 
that would produce progress in reduc-
tion of military action on both sides. 
But the pause should not be "misun-
derstood as an indication of weak-
ness," said Rusk, because if it was, "it 
would be necessary to demonstrate 
more clearly than ever, after the pause 
ended, that the United States is deter-
mined not to accept aggression without 
reply in Vietnam. 

The account states: "Dobrynin noted 
we were merely informing Soviets and 
was clearly relieved we were not ask-
ing them to act as intermediary." 

On this occasion the U.S. Ambassa-
dor in Moscow, Foy Kohler, unsuccess-
fully tried to .get first the'North Viet-
namese Embassy in Moscow, and then 
the Soviet foreign ministry, to accept 
official U.S. notification of the bomb-
ing pause, ending with a refusal by So-
viet Deputy Foreign Minister Firyubin, 
who said, "I am not a postman." 

Kohler cabled Washington that he 
was "annoyed at the apparent Soviet 
rebuff of an attempt to take heat out 
of admittedly dangerous situation in 
.SEA (Southeast Asia ... 

"On the other hand, I could under-
stand, if not sympathize with, Soviet 
sensitivity, given Chicom eagerness to 
adduce proof of their charges of collu-
sior against Soviets and, frankly, given 
rather strenuous nature of document 
they were being asked to transmit to 
DRV (North Vietnam)." 

To no one's great surprise, that five-
day bombing pause produced no effec- 

See DIPLOMACY, A14, Col. 1 . 
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the response. U.S. strategists in Sai-
gon advised a more "rigorous applica-
tion of air attacks . .. accompanied by 
pressure on the ground" to get North 
Vietnam "to cease directing and sup-
porting the VC (Vietcong) and to get 
VC units to cease their military activi-
ties in the South. In this approach, a 
downward trend in VC activities would 
be 'rewarded' in a similar manner by 
decreasing U.S. bombing." 
Cohesive Policy Sought 

Henry Kissinger, just before he be-
cattle President' Nixon's national secu-
rity adviser, criticized previous U.S. 
strategy for lacking any "conceptual" 
cohesiveness. In a survey article pub-
lished in the January, 1969, issue of 
Foreign Affairs, Kissinger wrote that 
"our diplomacy and our strategy were 
conducted in isolation from each 
other." 

One of the most glaring examples of 
uncoordination previously has been de-
scribed in part in the most "leaked" of 
the secret negotiations, Operation Mar-
igold, conducted principally between 
the United States and Poland in 1966. 
The collapse of that sequence has been 
attributed by critics to American 
bombing of Hanoi just at the time 
North Vietnam was reportedly plan-
ning to send a negotiator to Warsaw to 
bargain directly with the United 
States. 

Former President Johnson, in his ac-
count of Marigold, in "The Vantage 
Point," published last year, said "we 
never received through the Marigold 
exchanges anything that could be con-
sidered an authoritative statement di-
rect from the North Vietnamese." He 
added, "I realized this channel was a 
dry creek when the North Vietnamese 
failed to show up for the critical meet-
ing, the Poles had promised to arrange 
in Warsaw on Dec. 6, 1966." 

"The Poles," Mr. Johnson continuicr, 
"claimed that the North Vietnamese 
had failed to appear-because we had 
bombed targets near Hanoi two' days 
before the suggested meeting date." 

"That made little sense," said the 
former President, becaUse it was 
agreed that what was to be discussed 
with Hanoi's emissary "was a mutual 
deescalation formula, including a 
bombing halt." 

If the Polish envoy involved, 
Janusz Lewandowski, "had reported 
accurately to Hanoi," Mr. Johnson con-
tinued, "the North Vietnamese knew 
perfectly well that the bombing would 
not end before the talks began. Know-
ing that, they could hardly give our 
bombing as the excuse for not entering 
negotiations. Nevertheless, when the 
Poles advanced this argument we 
stopped all bombing in the vicinity of 
Hanoi. But North Vietnam's position 
did not change . .." 

The PentagonWapers now reveal an 
additional factor, although they also 
say that "the Poles were, intentionally, 

       

ambiguous in distinguishing betw een 
their own thoughts and Hanoi's." 

This new record shows that the 
bombing of Hanoi in December, 1966, 
was not merely a continuance of a pat-
tern, but a greatly intensified series of 
attacks which had been prearrar ged 
and permitted to go ahead with no co-
ordination with the diplomatic track. 

The study reports the following, 
with items in parenthesis included in 
the analysis: 

"The most sensitive area of all, -hat 
within five miles of the center of 
Hanoi, was struck (with about 25 tons 
of ordnance) for the first time in the 
war during the last week of June, as 
part of a general attack on POL facili-
ties"—petroleum, oil, lubricants. 
"About three tons more were ex-
pended in this area in mid-August. It 
was not hit again until the first week 
in December (the 2nd and 4th) when 
almost 50 tons were expended, then hit 
yet again during the second week in 
December (the 13th and 14th) with 
over 100 tons.... 

"In particular, during the Dec. 13-14 
attacks, the Chinese and .Romanian 
Embassies seem to have been hit, 
along with some residential structures 
in central Hanoi. From the ground, 
then, there might appear to have been 
an increase in the intensity of attack, 
measured both in tons of ordnance ex-
pended and type of target, commenc-
ing Dec, 2, i.e., immediately following 
Hanoi's assent to some form of U.S.- 
DRV meeting in Warsaw." ' 

"The Poles expressed ,alarm about 
the 'intensification of the bombing on 
Dec. 2, 7, 8, and 9, arguing that 'such 
attacks could only threaten or destroy 
the possibility of contact in Warsaw.' " 
Lewandowski, who had been in Hanoi 
Nov. 16-30, had said he believed the re-
duction of bombing during that period 
was regarded in Hanoi as "a tacit sig-
nal of  1.I.B.„snnpoirtior-his missien." 
Raids Delayed by Weather .... 

In fact, targets hit near Hanoi in De-
cember had been authorized as "Roll-
ing Thunder 52" on Nov. 10, the study 
reported, but bad weather had inter-
vened. But the bombing, when it came, 
evidently was interpreted in Hanoi as 
new escalation, and Hanoi "instructed 
the Poles on Dec. 14 to terminate all 
conversations." 

On Dec. 24, the • United States in-
formed the Communists that "bombing 
within 10 miles of the center of Hanoi 
had been suspended as an act of good-
will in the hopes of reviving the War-
saw contact." 

It was too late. The study notes that 
the bombing may have caused Hanoi 
"in turn to stiffen the conditions it im-
posed in exchange for talks"—whiet it 
did on Jan. 28, 1967, "demanding an 
end to all bombing" as a condition for 
any talks. 

It was to take more than another 
year of diplomatic probing, along with 
other ventures code-named Packers, 

Aspen, Sunflower, Ohio, and Pennsyl-
vania—in which Kissinger was the 
major intermediary  with French emis-
saries to Hanoi—to produce even di-
rect preliminary talks between the 
United States and North Vietnam. To 
accomplish that, President Johnson on 
March 31, 1968, unilaterally halted part 
of the bombing and on Oct. 31, 1968, Ie 
stopped all of it—and took himself- dut 
of the race for reelection. 

In the end, the United States settled 
for "understandings" about limited re-
ciprocity on the Communist side, 
which' have been in continual dispute 
ever since. 

North Vietnam, although it officially 
denies it, signalled directly, and also 
through the Russians, that it "under-
stood" that the United States bombing 
halt was dependent on respecting the 
Demilitarized Zone dividing North and 
South Vietnam; no attacks on South 
Vietnam'S major cities, such as Saigon, 
Hue and Danang; and on the participa-
tion of South Vietnam's government 
(and the NLF) in widened. Paris talks 
that began in January, 1969. 

In addition, the United States in the 
private talks served notice that it 
would continue air reconnaissance 
over North Vietnam to assure that the 
other conditions were being met. 
North Vietnam never directly agreed 
to that, but it did agree to change its 
demand for a stoppage of all "acts of 
war" to all "acts of force" against its 
territory, which the United States con-
strued as grudging acquiescence to 
continued U.S. reconnaissance. 

The Nixon administration subse-
quently charged that North Vietnam 
was firing on U.S. reconnaissance 
planes and it began bombing selected 
targets in North Vietnam, under the 
semantic guise of "protective reac-
tion." 

In the latest furor over "protective 
react-lore-ousted- Gem John D. Lavelle, 
former commander of the U.S. Air 
Force in Vietnam, has acknowledged 
that he ordered his own additional, un-
provoked bombing raids on North 
Vietnam without authorization, report-
ing them under the rubric "protective 
reaction." 

The portion of the 1968 "understand-
ings" applying to the Demilitarized 
Zone has also collapsed, in the Com-
munist offensive launched last March 
30 directly through it, which the 
United States denounced as "gross vio-
lation" of the 1968 prohibition. 

In the formal Paris peace talks 
which began in May, 1968, and more 
importantly, in the private Paris talks 
between Kissinger and Hanoi Polit-
buro member Le Due Tho that began 
in 1969, each side has had exhaustively 
ample opportunity to explore the oth-
er's viewpoints and terms for peace. 

The records on the history of Viet-
nam diplomacy now available end in 
March, 1968, before the Vietnamization 
program launched by the Nixon admin-
istration to withdraw American troops 
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BACK TO FREEDOM—David Edmunds, 88, a Welshman 
held by Chinese authorities since 1967, crosses into Hong 
Kong with his Chinese wife, Bernadette, right, and their 

two daughters He was arrested in Shanghai during the 
Cultural Rev lution. Despite five years of detention, 
Edmunds appeared to be in fine spirits and good health. 

   



and equip Saigon's forces to. replace 
them, and before the allied pursuit of 
the war into Communist "sanctuaries" 
iii /"∎nmbnrlla and T .2 AC 

Vcataa 

But the essential ingredients of to-
morrow's diplomatic disputes, includ-
ing recurring accusations on both 
sides, are all here: 

• U.S. troop withdrawal—North 
Vietnam often said in private this "was 
not a decisive question" in spite of 
what it often said officially to the con-
trary. 

• Free elections—the Pentagon anal-
ysis says, "Everyone no doubt suspects  

that the outcome of elections will 
determined by who runs them." 

• The legitimate renre,!,entatii,-e 
South Vietnam—" `Who shall gover 
SVN' is what the war is all about." 

• Cease fire—In the early years o 
the war, "Neither side wished an earl 
cease-fire. Both feared it would permi 
the other side to consolidate its pos 
tion prior to the final settlement. 
Each side has proposed a cease-fir 
under different formulations, depen•  
ing on who is being advantaged or di 
advantaged by it  

• International supervision or guar- 
antees—"As long as the 	(North 
Vietnam) feels assured that their con-
trol in the South is becoming a reality 
or is a reality, they are not likely to 
quarrel seriously over inspection and 
guarantee machinery." 

From the earliest periods of diplo-
matic probing, the Pentagon study 
shows conclusively, North Vietnam has 
been prepared to show flexibility on is-
sues "of secondary importance, com-
pared to the crunch point on who gov-
erns in the South." 


